Essays on Economic Policy on Food Consumption

Environmental Taxes, Distribution and Health

Sarah Säll

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences

Department of Economics

Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2016

Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2016:62

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8626-8 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8627-5 © 2016 Sarah Säll, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2016

Essays on Economic Policy on Food Consumption, Environmental Taxes, Distribution and Health.

Abstract

This thesis consists of four papers investigating the use of taxes on food consumption. The aim is providing policy information concerning what to eat from an environmental and health perspective. In Paper I the environmental damage costs of greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) and nutrient loads into the Baltic Sea from Swedish production of meat and dairy products are calculated. Costs are introduced as consumption taxes followed by estimations on the response in consumer demand and possible pollutant reduction levels. In Paper II, the distributional effects of the tax levels on Swedish produced meat, found in Paper I, are calculated for Swedish households. The incidence of taxes is calculated as the willingness to accept as compensation for taxes to be introduced, related to the households' total income and expenditure levels. The horizon is broadened in Paper III where consumption taxes on meat and dairy products in the whole of EU 27 are investigated. Three tax levels are introduced and by the use of the CAPRI model, changes in demand, supply, GHG emissions and welfare effects are estimated. In the last paper, Paper IV, most food commodities consumed in Sweden are included in a system of demand elasticities. The aim is to construct an economic incentive scheme to encourage the Swedish population to consume less meat and dairy products and increase consumption of fruit and vegetables. Reaching these consumption targets would not only reduce emission levels as was investigated in Paper I, but also improve public health. In Papers I, II and IV Marshallian, Hicksian and Income elasticities were estimated using the AIDS model. The overall results show that demand of food is in general inelastic, which implies that taxes have limited effects on demand and on pollutant levels.

Keywords: Environmental Taxes, Climate Change, Eutrophication, Meat and Dairy consumption, Sweden, EU, Distribution, Eating Healthy.

Author's address: Sarah Säll, SLU, Department of Economics, P.O. Box 7013, S-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* sarah.sall@ slu.se Dedication

To Elva

Contents

	List of publications	7
1	Introduction	9
1.1	Livestock and the Environment	9
1.2	Eating Healthy	11
1.3	Consumption of meat and dairy in Sweden	12
1.4	Demand of animal food products and modelling framework	14
2	Summaries of the appended papers	19
2.1	Summary of Paper I	20
2.2	Summary of Paper II	21
2.3	Summary of Paper III	22
2.4	Summary of Paper IV	23
	References	25
	Acknowledgements	31

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Säll,S., Gren, I-M. (2015) Effects of an environmental tax on meat and dairy consumption in Sweden. *Food Policy* 55, 41-53.
- II Säll, S. Distributional effects of environmental meat taxes in Sweden-Can the poor still eat meat? (manuscript).
- III Jansson, T., Säll, S. Environmental consumption taxes on animal food products to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions from the European Union (manuscript).
- IV Säll, S. Health and Environment combined in Sweden- The cost of following dietary recommendations and reducing GHG emissions from food (manuscript).

Papers I is reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

1 Introduction

The In this thesis the environmental, distributional and health aspects of economic policy implemented on food consumption, mainly meat and dairy products, are addressed. In paper I and III, environmental consumption taxes on meat and dairy products in Sweden and the EU 27 are analyzed. Paper II investigates the distributional effects an environmental tax on meat on Swedish households. Paper IV includes most food products consumed in Sweden, attempting to find out if an economic policy structure could shift consumption of food towards a combination where both environmental and health aspects are accounted for. Eating healthy and environmentally friendly food implies reduction of intake of animal products while increasing the share of vegetable products in the diet (WHO, 2015; NNR, 2012).

In the following, a brief background is given to why economic policies that reduce meat and dairy consumption can be important.

1.1 Livestock and the environment

The problems of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from livestock were highlighted after 2006 when FAO released a large study mapping the environmental concerns of raising animals for food (Steinfeld et al., 2006). In that study it was found that the global livestock production was responsible for 18% of total anthropogenic GHG emissions, which is more than from any other sector including transportation. The number has later been revised to 14.5% by e.g. Gerber et al, (2013). Even though Steinfeld et al, (2006) raise other environmental issues arising from livestock holdings such as nutrient leakages, soil degradation, deforestation and loss of biodiversity, these issues have not been in the spotlight as much as the

GHG emission levels. Several other papers have been published on the other environmental issues with focus on the agricultural impact on nitrogen and phosphorus leakages causing eutrophication (Machovina et al., 2015; Foley et al., 2011; Galloway et al., 2008).

Nutrient leakages and eutrophication have been of concern for environmental policy for decades. The intergovernmental organization HELCOM was formed in 1974 for the purpose of reducing pollutant levels in the Baltic Sea. The Baltic Sea is one of the most polluted oceans in the world, much due to intensive farming in the catchment area resulting in excessive algae blooming and oxygen depletion (ECA, 2016; SMED, 2014; Helcom, 2011). The narrow passage to the Atlantic Ocean between Sweden and Denmark also keep pollutants in the ocean allowing for stocks to build up.

With a long coastal zone, Sweden is one of the main nutrient emitting countries surrounding the Baltic Sea (Helcom, 2011). Most of the nutrients discharged into the sea, lakes and other water compounds originate from the agricultural sector (SMED, 2014). Much can be done, and has been done with technological improvements in the agricultural sector to reduce nutrient leakages. For example, there are regulations on how to keep and spread manure aiming to reduce nutrient leakage and on the use of catch crops (Swedish board of Agriculture, 2013a). However, even though measures are in place the levels of nutrient concentrations in the Baltic Sea have increased since 2009 (SMED, 2014). Of course, Sweden is not alone in polluting the Baltic Sea and measures are needed in all the surrounding countries to reduce eutrophication. In this thesis however, only Sweden is the focus regarding nitrogen and phosphorus emissions (Paper I).

In comparison to other protein food sources such as legumes, meat and dairy products are nitrogen use intensive per kilo output and in relation to protein content (Pierer et al., 2014; Röös et al., 2013). Also, livestock production requires substantial area of agricultural land. Worldwide 33% of arable land and 70% of agricultural land is used for livestock production, Steinfeld et al, (2006). By decreasing livestock production in favour of e.g. legumes, the need for land and fertilizers could decrease and reduce nutrient leakages.

Loss of biodiversity from eutrophication in water basins is due to the oxygen depletion resulting from excess algae blooming (e.g. McKinnon &

Tyler, 2012; Shaw et al., 2009). Much of the decrease in water biodiversity can thus be linked to agriculture. However, livestock has both negative and positive effects on terrestrial biodiversity. Machovina et al, (2015) point out the negative impacts of deforestation caused by livestock in tropical areas such as the Amazons. Steinfeld et al, (2006) claim that the five major drivers of biodiversity loss are i) habitat change, ii) climate change, iii) invasive alien species, iv) overexploitation and v) pollution, all on which livestock have direct or indirect effects. The conclusion that livestock have a large negative impact on biodiversity can however be balanced by the positive effects animals can have on biological diversity in grazing areas. In Sweden the traditional agricultural landscape include non-fertilized grazing fields rich in both animal and plant life, which are in risk of disappearing if the number of grazing animals decrease (Kumm, 2011; Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2016a).

1.2 Eating healthy

The WHO and the Swedish Food Agency identify the same commodity groups as problematic, with respect to human health (WHO, 2015; NNR, 2012). Apart from 'junk food' such as fast food and salt/ sugar, meat and dairy products are the primal food commodities causing disease. Large consumption levels of food from livestock can lead to cancer, cardiovascular disease, high blood pressure, obesity and diabetes type 2 (see e.g. Bjerselius et al., 2014; Larson & Wolk, 2012; WCRF, 2015; Aune et al., 2009; Pan et al., 2013). These diseases can to some extent all be labelled as welfare diseases, where the negative impacts can be lessened by increasing the share of vegetable products in the diet (WHO, 2015). The nutritional recommendations thus emphasize the need to decrease consumption per capita of red and processed meat and saturated fats found in dairy products (NNR, 2012). People are also encouraged to increase consumption of fruit and vegetables, whole grain and vegetable oils. The Nordic recommendations that are quantified are "maximum of 500 grams per week" of red meat with "as little as possible" from processed meats and "minimum of 500 grams per day" of fruit and vegetables (NNR, 2012). These recommended levels are far from the average Swedish consumption of today. The amount of red meat consumed is too high, and the amount of vegetables and fruit is much too low especially among men (Swedish Board of Agriculture, 2016a; Amcoff et al., 2012).

Healthy eating is also related to the availability of food. With an increasing global population the pressure on agricultural land increase. As mentioned in the previous section, global livestock production use 33% of the available arable land (Steinfeld et al., 2006). The assumed increase in demand of meat and dairy products (discussed further in section 1.3) will thus increase demand of arable land for feed production. For the sake of food security, for example UNEP, (2009) express concern regarding consumption of meat and dairy products.

1.3 Consumption of meat and dairy products in Sweden

Globally, the demand for meat and dairy products has increased by 245% and 70% respectively, between 1961 and 2001, and the increase will most likely continue in the foreseeable future (forecasted to 68% and 57% increase from the year 2000 until 2030) driven by increasing living standards (Steinfeld & Gerber, 2010). Between 1980 and 2012, per capita consumption of beef, pork and chicken in Sweden increased by almost 36%. The main increase was in chicken consumption, which more than tripled, followed by beef, which increased by almost 37%. Consumption of pork remained rather constant, see Figure 1.



Figure 1. Per capita consumption (kg carcass weight) of beef, pork, chicken and all meat in Sweden 1980-2012. Per capita consumption, kilo' on y axis. Source: Swedish Board of Agriculture, (2016a).

Part of the increase in demand can be explained by a relatively small price increase on meat, compared to other goods and an increase in disposable income. The Swedish meat price index decreased in the early 1990's and has still not reached consumer price index on other commodities. The relative decrease in prices can partly be explained by Sweden entering the European Union in 1995, opening up for larger import volumes at prices lower than what Swedish producers can compete with (Swedish Board of Agriculture, 2013b).

Since 1995 when Sweden joined the European Union, the shares of domestically produced meat has decreased rapidly. The shares of beef have decreased from 89% to 53% and the share of pork from 98% to 68%. The share of chicken consumption has decreased from levels where Sweden was a net exporter and 104% of consumption was produced domestically, to 66% of total consumption being produced in Sweden in the year 2012 (Swedish Board of Agriculture, 2013b).

The increasing trend in consumption was also found for most dairy products, with the exception of milk where consumption decreased during the entire time period. In 1980, the average Swede used 162 litres of milk per year. In 2012 this number had decreased to less than 90 litres. In figure 2, the consumption of milk, fermented products, cream and cheese are presented. Consumption of fermented products and cream increased by almost 50% per person from 1980 to 2012, and cheese consumption with 34% during the same time period.



Figure 2: Per capita consumption of milk, fermented dairy products, cream and cheese in Sweden 1980-2012. Per capita consumption, kilo' on y axis. Source: Swedish Board of Agriculture, (2016a).

1.4 Demand of animal food products and modeling framework

One argument for decreasing consumption or production of livestock by the use of economic incentives is found in e.g. Hedenus et al, (2014) and Bajželj et al. (2014) who argue that without reducing the intake of meat, mainly from ruminants, the target of global warming not to exceed 2 degrees cannot be reached. The argument is based on the assumption that technological approaches to reduce emissions from livestock are limited. Leip et al. (2010) find that a reduction by 15-19% of total GHG emissions from livestock is plausible within the EU by improving only the production systems. Gerber et al, (2013) find that the corresponding improvement worldwide is close to 30%. However, Van Dorslaer et al, (2015) find that subsidizing mitigation measures in EU agriculture could result in more modest reductions of approximately 4.5%. Technological improvements of cattle production could include improved feed quality, such as high energy and protein crops, which reduce the release of methane per kilo of final output. However, increasing the amount of high protein crops given to livestock could raise the sectors demand for arable land, which is already high (Steinfeld et al., 2006).

The limitations of technical improvements to reduce GHG emissions from meat and dairy point out the need of other policy measures. If consumers change their food consumption patterns to include a larger share of vegetables, the potential of reducing per capita food related GHG emissions could be between 22% and 40% (Berners-Lee et al., 2012; Scarborough et al., 2014). However, the difficulties of changing preferences by only information might call for the implementation of economic policies to reduce emissions from livestock by affecting consumption pattern (Lööw et al., 2013; Röös et al., 2014).

Steinfeld & Gerber, (2010) mention targeting the demand of livestock products to reduce consumption levels, but focus on emission reductions from the production side. They emphasize the need to intensify production of monogastric animals (such as pigs and chickens) to curb the environmental impact from the livestock sector. A switch from production of ruminants such as cattle, sheep and goats, to pigs and chicken would decrease emission of GHG and nutrients. However, animal products and especially red meat are more emission intense than food based on vegetables. Also, although not related to the environmental topic, intensifying production to reduce emission levels might have a negative impact on animal welfare.

While agreeing with Steinfeld & Gerber, (2010) on the need to reduce emission levels from the livestock sector, their focus on the production side can be discussed. In a perfect world, where all producers could be included in a mitigation scheme, the production side would be the best focus for curbing pollutant emissions. If all producers worldwide could be included in one reduction scheme, the emission reductions would be efficient from an economic point of view because producers face the same incentive to improve production methods. This can be problematic in practice as demonstrated by e.g. United Nations Climate Change Conferences where the difficulties of reaching agreements on worldwide reductions are highlighted. Countries desisting the agreement can have a comparative advantage in production of agriculture commodities, which create a risk of emissions leakages when demand of the unrestricted, hence cheaper, products increases.

The papers in this thesis focus on average consumption taxes for reducing pollutant emissions. When regulating the demand side it would be efficient to introduce differentiated taxes based on the actual emissions from each animal. Cederberg et al, (2009) estimate GHG emissions from Brazilian beef and find levels to be 30% to 40% higher than from the average European produced beef. One kilo of carcass weight beef produced in Brazil was found to emit on average 28 kilo of CO2/e at the farm gate, while Leip et al, (2010) find that the corresponding value for one kilo beef produced in e.g. The Netherlands was 11.5 kilo of CO2/e, which is the least emission intense production in the EU. The differences are much due to production methods, where Brazilian production is based on extensive farming, while the European system is more intensive. An efficient tax scheme would thus include high taxes on Brazilian beef and the lowest tax level on beef from The Netherlands. This is difficult to implement in practice and there can be large transaction costs identifying the different production methods used on each farm in each exporting country (see for example Schmutzler & Goulder, 1997). Leip et al, (2010) show that the newer eastern member states in the European Union (for example Slovenia, Bulgaria and Romania) produce beef more emission intensely than the

older member states such as France and Great Britain, due to the differences in production technology methods. The distributional effects of differentiated taxes on beef would thus imply a disadvantage for producers in in poorer countries. Given the subsequent problems with differentiated and production based measures, average consumption taxes can be a reasonable choice when imposing economic policies on food commodities.

Not only has consumption of meat and dairy products increased in Sweden the last decades but import levels have increased and crowded out part of the domestic production (Swedish Board of Agriculture, 2016b). This indicates that Swedish consumers are more sensitive to prices than to other values provided by domestically raised animals, such as a profitable domestic agricultural sector and grazing fields providing a unique fauna for biodiversity in the traditional Swedish agricultural landscape (Kumm, 2011). The latter is a major field of discussions in the public debate where it is claimed that restrictions such as taxes on meat and dairy consumption would seriously threaten the use of grazing land and thus biodiversity in Sweden (see e.g. Swedish Meat, 2015). On the other hand, the grazing areas have decreased since 2005 without any regulations on consumption (Olsson, 2013).

Using consumption taxes to improve public health has been tried in practice in for example Denmark, where a tax on saturated fats was introduced in 2011. The tax was however abolished only 15 months later, due to public resistance (Bødker et al., 2015). The tax implication on Danish health was studied in Smed et al, (2016), where it was found that a small but positive effect on health could be detected due to changes in consumption patterns during the time the tax was in place. The very few practical examples of health and environmental taxes on food products make it difficult to make a conclusive remark on the final effects of taxes. However, model simulations confirm the results from Smed et al, (2016) showing that taxes and subsidies have potential of both reducing emission levels and prevent chronic diseases (see reviews done by e.g. Thow et al., 2014 and Powell & Chaloupka, 2009).

The costs of consumption taxes as a means of achieving environmental targets should also be compared with the cost of other policies for emission reductions. A consumption tax may have a relative advantage because of its effects on several pollutants and thereby environmental targets.

In general, cost-effective solutions for achieving environmental targets are calculated for one target at a time, without much consideration of the eventual effects of these measures on other environmental targets, such as studies on the costs of reaching EU climate targets (e.g. Böhringer et al., 2009) and Baltic Sea international agreements (e.g. Elofsson, 2003). When accounting for the multi-pollutant effects of a consumption tax on meat and dairy, it can have a relative cost advantage in particular for environmental targets where livestock products account for a relatively large share of the total emissions. Including the positive health effects of reducing consumption levels of red and processed meat and saturated fats, the possible benefits from consumption taxes would be even larger.

2 Summaries of the appended papers

Common to all papers in this thesis is the foundation of consumption taxes and demand elasticities that are estimated to calculate the consumer response to taxes. Elasticities in Papers I, II and IV are estimated by the use of the AIDS model (Deaton & Muellbauer, 1980). In Paper I, environmental tax levels on meat and dairy products are calculated. Accurate tax levels would include all external effects, such as costs and benefits of the environmental impact as well as the positive or negative health effects of consuming the same commodities. However, the quantification and measurement of all these effects in monetary terms is difficult. In Paper III, different tax levels are tested for to estimate the change in demand, supply, welfare changes and GHG emission reductions, by the use of the CAPRI model (see Britz & Witzke, 2012). In Paper IV, simulations on consumer demand from one tax level is conducted and an attempt to find optimal tax levels given targets on demand and emission reductions is made.

The main finding in the included papers is that consumption taxes on food and primarily meat and dairy products might not be an efficient policy method to implement for reducing emissions. Consumer responses to higher prices on food are small and income elasticities are high, implying that improved living standards increase demand of the most emission intense commodities. However, the findings in Paper IV was that taxes combined with subsidies on fruit and vegetables would decrease meat consumption, increase the consumed quantities of fruit and vegetables to recommended levels and reduce GHG emissions substantially.

2.1 Summary of Paper I

One way of managing environmental problems arising from livestock production is to introduce Pigovian taxes determined by the marginal damage costs (Pigou, 1957). In this way social costs of pollution are internalized in the prices payed by the final consumers of the goods. In paper I, the impacts of introducing such a tax on seven different products (beef, pork, chicken, milk, fermented products, cheese, and cream) in Sweden, in terms of emissions of four pollutants (GHG, nitrogen, ammonia and phosphorus) were calculated. The main novelty of this paper was the consideration of a tax on food that includes damage costs of several pollutant and not only GHG emissions as has been analysed in e.g. Edjabou & Smed, (2013) and in Wirsenius et al, (2011). It was found that the emission costs of Swedish meat and dairy products from the four included pollutants vary between 1.8 and 32.5 SEK per kilo produce, which corresponded to 8.9% and 33.3% of initial prices.

The effects of the taxes on demand and hence emission levels were calculated by estimating a non-linear demand system for the seven products based on time series data from 1980. The results revealed relatively low own price elasticities and higher income elasticities. Meat products were found to be more sensitive in prices and income than dairy products.

Taxing all seven products simultaneously could result in reductions up to 1.5% of the included emissions in Sweden, and up to 12.1% from only the livestock sector. The taxes investigated would also contribute with approximately 2.5% to an achievement of the Swedish Baltic Sea phosphorus reduction target of 530 ton (Helcom, 2013), and to 6.5% of the national commitment to reduction of nitrogen emissions in the reference case and up to 14.8% when costs of CO2/e increased from 1 SEK/ kilo to 2.8 SEK/ kilo (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2016b). Emission reduction possibilities are thus found to be limited and it can be argued that consumption taxes are expensive as reduction measures, per unit emission reduction. However, when taking all of the pollutants into account, the multipollutant reductions possible from meat and dairy products could give consumption taxes a relative cost-advantage compared with policies directed towards a single pollutant.

2.2 Summary of Paper II

The distributional effect of environmental taxes on meat in Sweden, obtained from Säll & Gren, (2015), was calculated in Paper II. The distributional effects were measured as the amount households are willing to accept as compensation if a tax was introduced, to maintain the utility level experienced prior to the taxes. Willingness to accept as compensation was measured as the compensating variation (CV) for multiple price changes, based on Hicksian demand and constant utility levels for consumers (Huang, 1993). When several taxes are introduced simultaneously, compensating variation measures welfare changes in monetary terms, in relation to the initial expenditure level of all the included commodities.

Environmental taxes on meat have been a topic in the Swedish public debate since the Board of Agriculture issued a report on sustainable meat consumption, the contribution of livestock to greenhouse gas emissions in Sweden and possible mitigation actions (Lööv et al., 2013). One of the suggested actions was a tax to reduce meat consumption, which has increased rapidly since the early 1980's (Swedish Board of Agriculture, 2016a). Despite a large increase in consumption and the known environmental impact from livestock production, taxes on meat were dismissed by politicians with the consideration that such a tax would be regressive (HD, 2013).

In this paper it was found that the households with the smallest income levels would need to be compensated with 945 SEK per person and year to be able to adjust their consumption bundles and reach the same utility as before taxes. The households with the highest income levels need to be compensated with 1174 SEK. This corresponds to 0.77% and 0.80% of total expenditures for the low and high income group respectively. Environmental meat taxes were thus almost neutral when expenditures were used as a comparison measure, with a peak for the middle income group where a compensation of 0.85% of total expenditures was needed to maintain utility levels. On the other hand, if compensations were related to income levels the tax was found to be regressive. The lowest income group would then need compensation of 1.04% of the income while the highest income group would need a compensation of 0.52%.

A limitation of this paper was the focus on the consumer side of welfare changes from the environmental tax on meat. The supply side would most likely face welfare changes if demand of meat decrease. The change in demand is however small because of low price elasticities. If the decrease in consumption affects imported meat, the change in production in Sweden would be very small. Nevertheless, this is a topic that need further investigation.

2.3 Summary of Paper III

In this paper we have estimated the GHG emission reductions of introducing average consumption taxes on animal food products in the EU-27. It was done by applying various tax levels per ton of CO_2 -equivalent on meat and dairy products and conducting agricultural GHG emission estimations for each tax level using the agricultural trade and production model CAPRI (for an overview of the CAPRI model see e.g. Britz & Witzke, 2012). We included three different tax scenarios in our estimations; 16 Euro per ton GHG emissions, 60 Euros per ton and 290 Euros per ton. The results showed that the largest tax level of 290 Euro per ton GHG emission is the only scenario where we would see substantial emission reductions. Final emission reductions within the agricultural sector of the EU-27 would then be close to 4.9%. We also examined the case of beef, which was found to be the most important commodity to regulate. The regional results showed that the old member states in the union, such as France and Great Britain, are most important to include in a mitigation scheme, compared to the newer Eastern member countries.

The approach is similar to a study by Wirsenius et al, (2011) where consumption taxes on beef, pork, poultry, dairy and eggs are introduced, weighted to each commodity's emissions of GHG measured in Carbon Dioxide equivalents (CO2/e). However, instead of the AIDS model which is used to estimate demand elasticities in Wirsenius et al, (2011), we used the CAPRI model. This model includes regional supply and demand parameters, as well as cross price effects on complements and substitutes such as feed production and other agricultural produce, and finally welfare changes, allowing us to see the whole picture of a tax.

In the three tax scenarios the average cost of the policies becomes 223 Euro/ton, 275 Euro/ton and 448 Euro/ton reduced GHG emissions, respectively. Since the average cost per ton increases with increasing tax and abatement levels, one may conclude that the marginal cost is even higher than the average cost. One may also note that the average costs is higher than the underlying carbon tax rates of 16 Euro/ton, 60 Euro/ton and 290 Euro/ton, indicating that if there were a market for agricultural CO2 emission rights, and the consumption taxes were set equal to the emission prices, then the tax would be relatively inefficient since it gives a cost of reduction which is higher than the emission price.

2.4 Summary of Paper IV

The possibilities of promoting environmental friendly and healthy Swedish food consumption by means of consumption taxes/subsidies were examined in this paper. The average Swede consumes too much red and processed meat and too little fruit and vegetables, in contrast to recommended consumption levels (WHO, 2015; NNR, 2012). Health recommendations that were quantified were "minimum of 500 grams per day" of fruit and vegetables, and "maximum of 500 grams per week" of red and processed meats, where processed meats should be as little as possible (NNR, 2012). These recommendations are in place to reduce the risk of cancer, cardio-vascular disease, and other welfare diseases in the population, caused by wrongfully combined food consumption (WHO, 2003; WCRF, 2015; NNR, 2012). From an environmental perspective, the recommendations are consistent with how consumption ought to change to reduce GHG emissions from food and other environmental problems linked to agriculture production.

Three different tax scenarios were investigated. Two scenarios were based on simulations where commodities were taxed by the level of the Swedish carbon tax, which is 1 SEK per kilo CO2/e emitted. It was found that such a tax has limited impact on emission and health. Taxing for example cheese could even increase emissions due to cross price effects with red meat. Taxes on vegetables and fruit decrease the consumed level of these products and increase consumption of red meat. The final scenario was an optimization problem, where optimal tax and subsidy levels were found by minimizing reductions in consumer surplus under restrictions on consumption and emission levels. The result from the optimization show that a combination of subsidies and taxes would be the most efficient way to reach all quantified restrictions. A subsidy of close to 9 SEK per kilo of fruit and vegetables combined with a tax of 1.6 SEK per kilo GHG emissions on commodities such as grain products, fats, processed meat, beef, pork and milk would help reallocate consumption of food to the recommended levels. However, this tax/ subsidy scheme would increase the consumption of snacks and sugar.

There are some major limitations to this study, which need to be investigated to be more conclusive about policies that could be implemented on Swedish food consumption. The two main problems are the missing data on substitutes to animal protein, such as legumes and soy/ gluten products and price index availability.

References

- Amcoff, A., Edberg, A., Enghardt Barbieri, H., Lindroos, A.K., Nälsén, C., Pearson, M., Warensjö Lemming, E. (2012). Riksmaten – vuxna 2010– 11. Livsmedels- och näringsintag bland vuxna i Sverige. *National Food Agency Sweden*.
- Aune, D., Ursin, G., Vejerød, M.B. (2009). Meat consumption and the risk of type 2 diabetes. A systematic review and meat analysis of cohort studies. *Diabetologica 2009*. (52811)2277-87.
- Baježelj, B., Richards, K.S., Allwood, J.M., Smith, P., Dennis, J.S., Curmi, E., Gilligan, C.A. (2014). Importance of food-demand management for climate mitigation. *Nature Climate Change 4 (2014)*, pp 924-929.
- Berners-Lee, M., Hoolohan, C., Cammak, H., Hewitt, C.N. (2012). The relative greenhouse gas impacts of realistic dietary choices. *Energy Policy* 43 (2912) 184-190.
- Bjerselius, R., Brugård Konde, Å., Sanner Färnstrand, J. (2014). Konsumtion av rött kött och charkuteriprodukter och samband med tjock- och ändtarmscancer- risk – och nyttohanteringsraport. *National Food Agency Sweden, Report 20-2014.*
- Britz, W., Witzke, P. (2012). *CAPRI model documentation* (online). Available at: http://www.capri-model.org/docs/capri_documentation.pdf (15/4-2015)
- Böhringer, C., Löschel, A., Moslener, U., Rutherford, T. (2009). EU climate policy up to 2020. An economic impact assessment. *Energy Economics 31. P 295-302.*

- Bødker, M., Pisinger, C., Toft, U., Jørgensena, T. (2015). The rise and fall of the world's first fat tax. *Health Policy* 119 (2015) 737–742.
- Cederberg, C., Meyer, D., Flysjö, A. (2009). Life cycle inventory of greenhouse gas emissions and use of land and energy in Brazilian beef production. *SIK Report 792*.
- Deaton, A., Muellbauer, J. (1980). An Almost Ideal Demand System. *The American Economic Review 70: 312-326*.
- ECA. (2016). Combating eutrophication in the Baltic Sea: further and more effective action needed. *European Court of Auditors, 2016*.
- Edjabou, L.D., Smed, S. (2013). The effect of using consumption taxes on foods to promote climate friendly diets. The case of Denmark. *Food policy 39: 84-96.*
- Elofsson, K. (2003). Cost effective control of stochastic agricultural loads to the Baltic Sea. *Ecological Economics*, 47: 1-11.
- Foley, J.A., Ramankutty, N., Brauman, K.A., Cassidy, E.S., Gerber, J.S., Johnston, M., Mueller, N.D., O'Connell, C., Ray, D.K., West, P.C., Balzer, C., Bennett, E.M., Carpenter, S.R., Hill, J., Monfreda, C., Polasky, S., Rockström, J., Sheehan, J., Siebert, S., Tilman, D., Zaks, D.P.M. (2011). Solutions for a cultivated planet. *Nature* 478, 337-342.
- Galloway, J., Rownsend, A., Erisman, J., Bekunda, M., Cai, Z., Freney, J., Martinelli, L., Setizinger, S., Sutton, M. (2008). Transformation of the nitrogen cycle: recenttrends, questions, and potential solutions. *Science 320*, 889–892.
- Gerber, P.J., Steinfeld, H., Henderson, B., Mottet, A., Opio, C., Dijkman, J., Falucci, A., Tempio, G. (2013). Tackling climate change through livestock- A global assessment of emissions and mitigation opportunities. *Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations* (FAO), Rome.
- HD. (2013). Satsa på märkning och information, Helsingborgs Dagblad (online). Available at: http://www.hd.se/ovrigt/ledare/2013/02/04/satsa-pa-markning-och-information/ (12/4-2016).
- Hedenus, F., Wirsenius, S., Johansson, D.A. (2014). The importance of reduced meat and dairy consumption for meeting stringent climate change targets. *Climatic Change (2014) 124:79–91*.
- Helcom. (2011). Fifth Baltic Sea Pollution Load Compilation (PLC-5). *Balt. Sea Environ. Proc. No. 128.*

- Helcom. (2013). HELCOM Copenhagen ministerial declaration (online). Aavailable at: http://www.helcom.fi/Ministerial2013/ministerialdeclaration (5/3-2016).
- Huang, K.S. (1993). Measuring the effects of U.S meat trade on consumer's welfare. *Journal of Agriculture and Applied Economics* 1993 pp 217-227.
- Kumm, K.I. (2011). Meat and milk production in Sweden and its impact on biodiversity and climate – Differences between grazing-based and concentrate-based systems. Swedish Board of Agriculture, Report 2011:21.
- Larsson, S. C., Wolk, A. (2012). Red and processed meat consumption and risk of pancreatic cancer: meta-analysis of prospective studies *British Journal of Cancer* (2012) 106, 603 – 607.
- Leip, A., Weiss, F., Wassenaar, T., Perez, I., Fellmann, T., Loudjani, P., Tubiello, F., Grandgirard, D., Monni, S., Biala, K. (2010). Evaluation of the livestock sector's contribution to the EU greenhouse gas emissions (GGELS) –final report. *European Commission, Joint Research Centre*.
- Lööv, H., Andersson, R., Ekman, S., Wretling Clarin, A., Frid, G., Kättström, H., Larsson, B., Sjödahl, M. (2013). Hållbar köttkonsumtion Vad är det? Hur når vi dit? Swedish Board of Agriculture, Report 2013:1.
- Machovina, B., Feeley, K.J., Ripple, W.J. (2015). Biodiversity conservation: The key is reducing meat consumption. *Science of the Total Environment* 536 (2015) 419–431.
- McKinnon, J.S., Tylor, E.B. (2012). Biodiversity: Species choked and blended. *Nature 482*.
- NNR. (2012). Nordic Nutrition Recommendations 2012 Integrating nutrition and physical activity. *Nordic Council of Ministers 2014*.
- Olsson, Y. (2013). Use of agricultural land 2013 Final statistics. *Swedish Board of Agriculture*.
- Pan,A., Sun, Q., Bernstein, A.M., Manson, J.E., Willett, W.C., Hu, F.B. (2013). Changes in Red Meat Consumption and Subsequent Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: Three Cohorts of US Men and Women. *JAMA Intern Med.2013 Jul 22; 173(14)*.

- Pierer, M., Winiwarter, W., Leach, A. M., Galloway, J. N. (2014). The nitrogen footprint of food products and general consumption patterns in Austria. *Food Policy* 49 (2014) 128–136.
- Pigou, A.C. (1957). A Study in Public Finance, Third Edition. Macmillan (1947).
- Powell, L.M., Chaloupka, F.J. (2009). Food prices and obesity: evidence and policy implications for taxes and subsidies. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 87. 2009.
- Röös, E., Sundberg, C., Tidåker, P., Strid, I., Hansson, P.A. (2013). Can carbon footprint serve as an indicator of the environmental impact of meat production? *Ecol. Indic.* 24, 573–581.
- Röös, E., Ekelund, L., Tjärnemo, H. (2014). Communicating the environmental impact of meat production: challenges in the development of a Swedish meat guide. *Journal of Cleaner Production*. *Volume 73, 15 June 2014*
- Scarborough, P., Appleby, P.N., Mizdrak, A., Briggs, A., Travis, R.C., Bradbury, K.E., Key, T.J. (2014). Dietary greenhouse gas emissions of meat-eaters, fish-eaters, vegetarians and vegans in the UK. *Climate Change 125*.
- Schmutzler, A., Goulder, L.H. (1997). The choice between emission taxes and output taxes under imperfect monitoring. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management 32*.
- Shaw, G.R., Moore, D.P., Garnett, C. (2009). Eutrophication and algal blooms. Environmental and Ecological Chemistry, volume 2. EOLSS Publishers Company Limited, 1 Jan 2009.
- SMED. (2014). Beräkning av kväve- och fosforbelastning på havet år 2011 för uppföljning av miljökvalitetsmålet "Ingen övergödning". *Sveriges Meteorologiska och Hydrologiska Institut*.
- Smed, S., Scarborough, P., Rayner, M., Jensen, J.D. (2016). The effects of the Danish saturated fat tax on food and nutrient intake and modelled health outcomes: an econometric and comparative risk assessment evaluation. *European journal of Clinical nutrition 2016*.
- Steinfeld, H., Gerber, P., Wassenaar, T., Castel, V., Rosales, M., De Haan, C. (2006). Livestock's Long Shadow- environmental issues and options. *FAO*, Agriculture and Consumer protection Department.

- Steinfeld, H., Gerber, P. (2010). Livestock production and the global environment: consume less or produce better? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107: 18237-18238.
- Swedish Board of Agriculture. (2013a). Gödsel och miljö 2014 Vägledningsmaterial för – lagring och spridning av gödsel höst och vinterbevuxen mark. Växt- och miljöavdelningen, Swedish Board of Agriculture.
- Swedish Board of Agriculture. (2013b). Köttkonsumtionen i siffror. Utveckling och orsaker. *Swedish Board of Agriculture, Report 2013:2*.
- Swedish Board of Agriculture. (2016a). Konsumtion av livsmedel- food consumption (online). *Swedish Board of Agriculture, Statistical Database*. Available at: http://statistik.sjv.se/PXWeb/pxweb/sv/?rxid=5adf4929-f548-4f27-9bc9-78e127837625 (17/3-2014).
- Swedish Board of Agriculture. (2016b). *Handel med nötkött- trading on beef* (online). Available at: http://www.jordbruksverket.se/ (18/4-2016).
- Swedish Environmental Protection Agency. (2016a). *Environmental* objective- A varied agricultural landscape (online). Available at: http://www.miljomal.se/sv/Environmental-Objectives-Portal/ (3/5-2016)
- Swedish Meat. (2015). *Svenskt nötkött- bra miljö och klimatval*. (Online) Available at: http://www.svensktkott.se/aktuellt/nyheter/svensktnotkott-bra-miljo-och-klimatval/ (26/4-2016).
- Säll, S., Gren, I.M. (2015). Effects of an environmental tax on meat and dairy consumption in Sweden. *Food Policy*, 55.
- Thow, A.M., Downs, S., Jan, S. (2014). A systematic review of the effectiveness of food taxes and subsidies to improve diets: understanding the recent evidence. *Nutrition reviews*, 72.
- UNEP. (2009). Nellmann, C., MacDevette, M., Manders, T., Eickhout, B., Svihus, B., Prins, A.G., Katlenborn, B.P. (2009). The Environmental Food Crisis – The Environment's Role in Averting Future Food Crises. UNEP/ GRID- Arendal.
- Van Doorslaer, B., Witzke, P., Huck, I., Weiss, F., Fellmann, T., Salputra, G., Jansson, T., Drabik, D., Leip, A. (2015). An economic assessment of GHG mitigation policy options for EU agriculture. *EUR- Scientific and Technical Research Report.*

- WCRF. (2015). Cancer prevention and survival, Summary of global evidence on diet, weight, physical activity & and what increases or decreases your of cancer. *World Cancer Research Fund International*.
- WHO. (2015). Fact sheet N°394. World Health Organization.
- Wirsenius, S., Hedenus, F., Mohlin, K. (2011). Greenhouse gas taxes on animal food products: Rationale, tax scheme and climate mitigation effects. *Climate Change*, 108: 159-184.

Acknowledgements

Being a PhD student is equivalent to being paid for investing time on your own mind and learning and it has been a challenging but rewarding process. Doubting your abilities is however a large part of the job, thus surrounding yourself with people that encourage you and make you believe in yourself is important. Therefore I want to express my gratitude to the people that have encouraged and supported me during the last six years.

Most important, I am grateful to Ing-Marie Gren for the freedom and support I have been given. Thank you Ing-Marie. I know you have been worried at times, as I have spent long periods of time staring at the computer without progressing. The worry was (attempted to be) masked by you calling my stalling "mental development". However, you were right, I have developed. Much is thanks to you letting me go my own way, lifting the areas where I am strong without making too much of a fuss about areas where I am weaker.

For Torbjörn Jansson, one of my assistant supervisors. Thank you Torbjörn for all your support and for the collaboration on Paper III. Your attention to detail is inspiring and your help on the small things I get stuck on has made my papers better. Paper IV would not even be a manuscript without your comments on details during "fika". To Hans Andersson, my other assistant supervisor. Hasse, I have much enjoyed our discussions and your great knowledge of Swedish agriculture. Without you I would not have been involved in PhD student politics and you have inspired my engagement to teaching. Even if you have not been directly involved in my writing, you have contributed much to my good work experience. I also want to express my gratitude to Yves Surry for invaluable help on the methodology used in the thesis. I would not know much about demand systems without you. I also want to thank Adam Pain for his course in academic writing. Adam and his teaching helped me when I was stuck and considered quitting the PhD program. I am still no text wizard, but I don't find the writing part of research as horrendous as I once did. It can even be fun. Further, I am grateful to Fredrik Hedenus, Thank you Fredrik for challenging me in my research topic, however I value your friendship more.

To all my colleagues at the Department of Economics, I want to express my appreciation to you all. People come and people are missed, but the nice "fikas" persist. Inspiration, motivation, laughter and friendship. I am happy I have the opportunity to stay with you for some of the years to come.

Finally, to friends and family who have stood by my side. You all deserve individual thank you's, but you are too many. I will however single out Jordan Hristov, Katarina Labajova and Jean-Philipe Deschamps-Laporte who "suffered" through the first year of courses with me, together with Stefanie Heidrich who has been the dearest friend all these years. We meet again at Palermo, I hope.

I am fortunate to have a large extended family and in-law family. Your unconditional love and support has been invaluable, not only for my work of course. Last but not least, to Osmo and our daughter Elva for bringing so much joy into my life. The two of you are the most important people in my life.

Sarah Säll

Uppsala, Maj 2016